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Bastern District of Kentucky

— UNITED STATES DISTRICT CQURT FILED
EASTERN DISTRICT OF KENTUCKY FEB 24 o
AT LEXINGTON - § 2004
CASE NOC. 04'—%——" SE ' AT LEXINGTON
. LESLIE G WHITMER
CLERK U S DISTRICT DOURT
STATIC CONTROL COMPONENTS, INC, PLAINTIFF

COMPLAINT FOR DECLABATORY JUDRGMENT

LEXMARK INTERNATIONAL, INC. DEFENDANT
~Serve; CT Corporation System
Kentucky Home Life Building

‘Room 1102
Louisville, Kentucky 40202

 EY Y EEE RN ET RN N
COMES NOW Plaintiff Static Control Coraponents, Inc. (“SCC™), pursﬁant'to 28 UJ.5.C.
N § 2201, the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure and the Local Rules of the United States District |
l‘ Court for the Eastern District_ of Kentucky, and does hereby state its Comp]ainf for_Dec]mtory
Judgment against Defendant Lexmark lﬁfen;ational, Ipc. (“Lemn_ark”} as follows:

Introduction

1. SCC has developed re~enginecred replacement chips for certain Lexmark laser
i | printer toner cariridges. These replacement chips include only original computer programs that
were created by and at the direction of SCC (the “new chips™), . |

| 2, Beginning on or about February 24, 2004, SCC began manufacturing and offéring

for sale the new chips. SCC markets these new chips to toner cartridge remanufacturers so as to

replace used, broken or missing niicmchips on Lezmark cartridges, including for the !
remanufacture of non-Prebate cartridges, and for the remanufacture of Prebate cartridges

purchased after October 1, 2003, in the state of North Carolina.
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SCC seeks in this action a declaratory judgment in favor of SCC so as to establish
that $CC’s new re-engineered replacement toner cartridge chips can be manwufactured, offered
for sale and sold in thie United States under copyzight law and under the Digital Milletmium

Copyright Act of 1998, 17 U.S.C. § 1201, e/ seq. (“DMCA™).

Jerisdiction and Vernue
4. ' SCC brings this action under 28 U,S.C. §§ 1331 and 1338 o obiain a declaratory
judgment of no copyright infringement and no viclation of Section 1201{a)(2) of the DMCA, 17
US.C. § 1201(2)(2). |
5. . Personal jurisdiction exists in that Lexmark tesides in and is doing business in the
State of Kentucky and this District.
6. Venue is proper in this Court pursvant to 28 U.5.C. §§ 1391(b) and (¢) and
1400(=2).
The Parties
7. Plaintiff SCC is a North Carolina corporation with its principal placs of busiuess
in Sanford, Lee County, North Carolina. SCC, inter alia, is a leading supplier of toner and parts
and eomponents to ltoner cari‘:ridge remanufacturers, SCC supplies, among other th.ings; tonér
and other components nsed by remanufactorers m remanufacturing various brands of computer
printer toner cartridges, including Lexmark toner cartridges.
8. Remanufacturers take used original equipment manufacturer (*OEM™) laser toner
cartridges, inspect an& cléan the toner .cartridges, replace' any worn components in the tonsr
cartr_idges, and add new toner. The resulting rcmanufacturéd laser toner Eartridge is sold at a

substantial discount when compared t¢ the price of ‘'a new toner cartridge.
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A 9. Defendant Lexmark, on information and belief, is @ Delaware corporation with 2

principal place of business in Lexington, Kentucky.

10.  Lexmark is an OEM of laser printers and faser toner cartridges.

I1. Lexmark Vsells a variety of computer printer models, including the T520/522,
T620/622 and T630 Iasér._printt;rs. Lexmark also sells tﬁese priiters to other computer and
computer petipheral Sasietnars, wlmr the beand names of such manufotarers and using .~
different model numbers, including IBM Corporation, Toshiba Corporation and Dell, Ine.
Lexmark designs its printer models so that only a Lexmark-designed tonet cartridgs for that
particular model will work in a given model of & Lexmark laser printer. Thus, in order for 2
Lexmark printer to fanction, it must have either a pew or remanufactured Lexmark toner
cartridge.

Lexmark Cartridges and Prior SCC Chips

12, In 200}, Lexmark introduced printer ioner cartridges for its T520/522 and
T620,/622 laser printers cﬂng:izﬁng “dissbling chip” microchips. These microchips incorporated
a me;chﬁm'sm that enables the Lexmark printer to verify that the toner cartridge chip (and,
. therefore, the toner cartridge) came from Lexma‘rk As relevant to this proceeding, whenever 2
toner cartridge is inserfed into 2 ngﬁmk printer, the printer is powered on, or the printer is
opened and closed, a “handshake” is performed between sbﬁWara in the printer that Lexmark
calls a “Printer Engine Program™ (“PEP”) and software on the disabling ch1p 0 verify that only
toner cartridges authorized by Lexmark are used, If this “handshake” does not ocour, the printer
will not print. |

13. -SCC‘ fWersc eﬁginaered the Lexmark disabling chips, and designed compatible :

mplacemeﬁt_ chips sold under the brand name “SMARTEK?” that restored printer and cartridge
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functionality disabled by the Lexmark chip, The SMARTEK chips consisted of Texas
Instruments chip hardware that incotporated substantial original software developed by SCC that
enahled exchange of information and interoperability between the SMARTEK chip and the
. Lexmark printer, In or around é’cptember 2002, SCC began manufacturing and selling its
SMARTEK replacement chips.
* SCC's Independent Creation of New Re-epgineered Reglacemént_gl_ljgg
14,  In 2002, SCC had begun developing software programs that provided additional
: functionality for 2 more advanced generation of replacement chips.
1S.  The new chips incorporate portions of the original software written by SCC that
was ori the prior SMARTEK chips, and new software written by SCC that performs functions not
previously available on either the Lexmark or SCC SMARTEK chips, on a new and different
chip hardware platform. These functions of the SCC new ¢hips incluode maintenance functions
relatmg to communications between the printer and the toner cartridge chip, and enhancement of
prittt quality when the print cariridges are in 2 “toner low” condition. . 7
16.  SCC registered its copyrights in its original programs used in the new chips for
the T520/522 and T620/622 toner cartridges with the United States Copyright Office, SCC has
applied to rcgister its copyright in its original programs used in the new chips for the T630 toner
cartridges with the United States Copyright Office.
17, The new ciﬁps also contain a sofiware routine that approximates the level of toner
in the printer toner cartridge. The routine for measuring toner was independently written using a
“clean room™ procedure, by a computer science stu:dent who wz;:s not employed by SCC and had
no access to the source code of a routine vsed by Lexmark that Léxma:rk oalls-2 “Toner Loading

Prngram" (“TLP”) and that Lexmark asserts petforms a similar function. After ronning the
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routine on actual printers, minor corrective changes were made by SCC éﬁ as to improve
interoperation between the SCC programs on the cartridge and software in the Lexmark printer.

- 18, The toner measuring programs on the new chips include no code copyrighted by
Lexmark. They do not include any c;,ode froz:ﬁ the “TLPs” or the “PEP.”

19.  The above-referenced functions and the maintenance and pﬁnt quality functions
peffo.rmed- hy-the ofiginal SCC software programs on the pew chips require the exclfange of
iilfcinﬁation during cOmmurﬁcatién between the chip and the printer. The maintenance software
on c‘ach new chip exchanges data with the PEP that instructs the printer to display an etror
_mes$age upon failure of the particular moenitored communications functions. The print quality
erhancement softwﬁrc program similarly exchanges data with the printer that causes the printer
to reduce the amount of toner being deposited on the paper by the printer. |

20.  Prior to manufacturing or offering for sale the new chips, SCC provided Lexmark
tnedl with an opportunity to review and ask questions about the code on the new chips. In a.eaz'rlﬁr Juty
2002, SCC’s cvunscl provided outside counsel for Lexmark with copies of program code
contained on the new chips for the T520/522 and T620{622 cartridges, pursu&rj:t o &
confidentiality agreement. Ou July 24, 2003, SCC counsel, its computer science exl?zert Dr,
Benjamin Goldberg, and the SCC engineer who wrote the copyrighted code for the ncéw chip,
held a two-hour video conference with counsel for Lexmark and their expert, Dr. Bruce Maggs.
During that video conference, lSCC responded to Lexmark counsel’s questions, and s¢C
representatives explained the operation of the pre—exisﬁng and new programs wriiten by éC’C for
the new chip, the “clean room” procedure by which the new toner measuring ?rogrﬁn was

written, ang i code that implements that program.,
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21.  In August 2003, Lexmark counsel informed SCC counsel, without explanation, of
Laxmark?s view that the new SCC chip‘s would violate the DMCA, and would not concedea that
the suﬁware for the npew éhips did not infringe Lexmark’s copyright. Thercafter, Lexmark

* continued fo contend that manufacture of 2 new chip by SCC c¢ontaining software written by
SCC still would violate the DMCA.

22, After August 2003, SCC continued ‘0 test the software for the new chips and, as 2
result, made certain minor revisions to the code so as to run the programs on differé::it chip
hardware aﬁd to improve reliability and operation. SCC further adapted the code for use with the
Lexmark T630 printer.

23, In February 2004, SCC menufactured in North Carolina & number of the re-
engineered replacement chips for use in Lexmark foner cartridges.

24,  The new chips have lawiul uses for remanufacturing and repairing of Lexmark

"N’ laser printer toner cartridges.

25. SCC has sold th:l.ese' chips to date exclusively w"jseuignufaciurcrs of toner |
cartridges for the Lexmark T520/522, T620/622 and T630 printers for use in remanufactoring
Prebate cartridges that were purchased in North Carolina after October 1, 2003, and for use in

- remanufactured nﬁn-Prehaxe cartridges for those printers. SCC intends to sell such chips zlso for
use in femanufacﬁii'ing such cart:ndges for the above-identified families of printérs ﬂ{at are
manufactured by Lexmark but sold under the brand name of other companies.

COUNT ONE

DECLARATORY JUDGMENT OF NON-INFRINGEMENT OF COPYRIGHT

26.  SCC incorporates by reference the facts of paragrarhs 1425 as if get forth herein in

their entirety.
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27. "I-'he re-engineered replacement chips include software code created by and
copyrighted by SCC, | |

28. ' The new chips include %We from the Lexmark PEPs or
TLPs. | '

et

2.  The new chips include no code that is substantially similar to code from the

. Lexmark PEP or TLPs.

30.  The software cade on the new chips does hot infringe any Lexm

COUNT TWO

DECLARATORY JUDGMENT OF NO VIOLATION OF 17 U.S.C. § 1201{A)(2)
31.  SCCincorporates by reference the facts of paragraphs 1-30 as if set forth herein in

. their entirety.

12, Section [201(a)2) of the DMCA, 17 U.S.C. § 1201(a)(2), provides:

(2} No person shall manufacture, import, offer to the public, provide, or otherwise
traffic in any technology, product, service, device, componcnt ot part thereof,
- ihat— .

(A) is primarily designed or produced for the purpose of circumventing a
technological measure that effectively controls access to a work protected under
this title; :

- {B) has only limited commercially significant purpose or use other than to
circumvent a technological measurg that effectively controls access to a work
protected under this itle; or .

(C) is marketed by that person or another 'actmg n concert with {hat person with
that person's knowledge for use in circumventing a technological measure that
effectively controls access ta 2 work protected under this title.

33, SCC’sre-engineered replacement ¢hips do not violate section 1201(a)(2) because
W

il Lexmark “handshake™ protects against usc in a Lexmark printer of cartridges other than
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cartridges authorized for use by Lexmark, and does not protect a copyrighted work, i.e., a “work

protected under this fitle.,”
34. SCC’S re-engineered replacement chips do HW because
| the Lexmark “handshake” does hot prevent anyons from encountering, obtalning, ﬁw&hg and
" copying the PEP, but only protects against use of the PEP in a Lexmark printer with cartridges
other than cariridges authorized for we by Lexmark, and _QMMMWS:;” 1o
the PEP.
COUNT THREE

DECLAMTORY‘ JUDGMENT OF NO VIQLATION OF 17 U.S.C. § 1201(AX2)
35. ScC incoqa“orates by refefencé the facts of paragraphs 1-34 as if set forth h_lgerein in
- their entirety. “

36. In order to create chips that can imteroperate with the PEP in the Lemérk
'T52D/522', T620/622 and T630 printers, SCC needed to understand how to .gain access to the
'PEP for those printers to enable the SCC :1ew chips to operate. Access to the PEP is nacessary
for any use of that program in conjunction with a Lexmark toner cartridge .

37.  Unless the new chips arc able to perform the anthentication “handshake” with the
PEPs, the PEPs will neither obtain information from the new chips nor allow the PEPs to be used
to operate the printer's functions.

38.  Unless the new chips are able to. perform the authentication “handshake” with the
PEPs, the new programs created by SCC on the new chips cannot interépemi:e with the PEPs

 and, therefore, will ot be able to perform their fnctions and make available to the consumer

their functionality and competitive clinices for rzmafactnredrl,sxmark cartridges, including
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- non-prébate cartridges and Prebate cartridges sold after October 1, 2003 in the State of North

Carolina.
39.  SsCC may lawfully identi%y and analyze those portions of the PEPs necessary for
‘. ‘interoperability with the software fm: the new chips, circumvent protections offered by the
- authentication “handshake,” and distribute in commerce to others its originel programs along
with the means of circumventing the Lexmark technological protection measure, for'the sole:
purpose of eﬁébling interoperability between the new chip software and the PEPs.

~ 40.  For the reasons set forth in Count Two, the SCC new chips do o not violate section

1201(a)(2) of the DMCA because section 1201{a)(2) does not apply to the circumvention of the
'___,____._.,__ W

“handshakc” as deployed by Lexmoark.

41.  Even if section 1201(a)(2) were to so apply, SCC’s activities of developing,'

manufacfuring, marketing and selling its re-engineered replacement chips are exemﬁt.under

-Section 1201(f) of the DMCA.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, plaintiff Static Control Components, Inc. is entitled to and hcreby
requests the- following relief: |

A, A declaratory judgment on Count One of this Coﬁiplaint that the saﬂware-
programs on the re-engineered replacémeﬁt ¢hips do not infringe any copyright of Lexmark,

B. A declaratoty judgment ¢n Coﬁnt Two of this Complaint that the manu;facture,
marketing and sale of the new chips do not violate section 1201(a)(2) of the DMCA, 17 T.I'ISC §
1201()(2); o |

C. A declaratory judgment on Count Three of this Complaint that, even if the

provisions of section 1201(a)(2) were to apply to the Lexmark “handshake” SCC is %nﬁﬂed,
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_ pursnant to section 1201(f) of the DMCA, 17 U.S.C. § 1201¢f), to manufacture, offer to the

public, provide and sell its new chips; and,

D. Such other relief as this Honorable Court may deem just and proper.

10
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R This the 24th day of February, 2004

WYATT TARRANT&COMBS ¥

Respectfully submitted,

Page 11 of 15
Boi5/015

W. C C'raig‘-f{obeﬂson m
E. Christine Lewis

WYATT, TARRANT & COMBS, LLP

250 West Main Street, Suite 1600
Lexington, KY 40507
§55.233.2012

Skip London

Static Control Components, Inc.
3010 Lee Avenue

Post Office Box 152

Sanford, NC 27331
919,774.3808

Seth D). Greenstein

‘Melise R. Blakeslee

John R. Fuisz

Carrie Shufflebarger

Ann M. Brose

MCDERMOTT, WILIL. & EMERY
600 13th Street NW

Washington, D.C. 20005
202,756.8000
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WYATT TARRANT & COMBS LLPs00 WEST JEFFERSON STREET, SUITE 2800
LO'(HSVH,LE KENTUCKY 40202-2898

TELECOPY TRANSMITTAL SHEET

DATE: February 24, 2004  TIME:
DELIVER TO: FAX NUMBER: CONFIRMATION NO.:
William L. London 800/356-2729
Seth Greenstein . 202/756-8087

VOICE CONFIRMATION REQUESTEL: NO

FROM: Geneva Ginter for Craig Robertson  DIRECT DIAL NUMBER: §59.288.7614. . vl

TOTAL NUMBER OF PAGES INCLUDING COVER SHEET:
TIME SENT: ___ _AM/PM. BY:

TIME CONFIRMED: AM/PM. CONFIRMEDBY: .
CONFIRMED WITH: '

ORIGINAL IS BEING SENT VIA U.S. MAIL: NO

IF YOU DO NOT RECEIVE A CLEAR OR COMPLETE FAX, PLEASE CALL OUR SERVICE
CENTER AT 502.5389.5235, EXTENSION 548, OUR FAX NUMBER IS 502.589, 0309 “

: L
THE INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THIS FAX IS ATTORNEY/CLIENT PRIVILEGED AND

CONFIDENTIAL, INTENDED FOR THE USE OF THE INDIVIDUAL OR ENTITY NAMED
ABOVE, IF THE READER OF THIS MESSAGE IS NOT THE INTENDED RECIPIENT ((DR THE
EMPLOYEE OR AGENT RESPONSIBLE TO DELIVER IT TO THE INTENDED RECIPIENT} YOU
ARE HEREBY NOTIFIED THAT ANY DISSEMINATION, DISTRIBUTION OR COPYING OF THIS
COMMUNICATION IS PROHIBITED. IF YOU HAVE RECEIVED THIS COMMUN'ICA’ITIGN N
ERROR, PLEASE NOTIFY US BY COLLECT TELEPHONE AND. RETU'RN THE ORIGIN'AL
MESSAGE TO US AT THE ADDRESS ABOVE AT QUR EXPENSE _

 MESSAGE:
CLIENT NAME: Statle Control : CLIENT NO.: 46548
MATTER NAME: Lexmark . ‘ : MATTER NO.|101303

@ooi1s015
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ATTACHMENT TO CIVIJ, COVER SHEET

Attormevs for Plaintiff

W. Craig Robertson IIT
E. Christine Lewis
WYATT, TARRANT & COMBS, LLP
.| 250 West Main Street, Suite 1600 i
Lexington, KY 40507
§59.233.2012

Skip London.

Static Control Components, Im.:
3G10 Lee Avenue

Post Office Box 152

Sanford, NC 27331

1 919.774.3808

Seth D, Greenstein

Melise R. Blakeslee

John R. Fuisz

Carrie Shufflebarger

. Ann M. Brose

SN’ MCDERMOTT, WILL & EMERY
600 13th Street NW

‘Washinpton, D.C. 20005
202.756,8000
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___ B Bmunm s Ciyil Action

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

.\\w .

District of
Static Control . Cumpenents, Inc. SUMMONS IN A CIVIL ACTION
: : V.
Lexmark International, Inc. CASENUMBER: . Oq“gq_ h’SF
TO: (tama snd sdéroan of Defendant)

Lexmark Internationsl, Inc,

¢/o C.7. Corporation System

K. Bone Life Ruilding, hoom 1102
Iouisville, XY 30202

YOU ARE HERERY SUMMONED and required t0 serve on PLAINTIFF'S ATTORNEY' (zams and sddpeas
N W. Craig Robertescn, IIT -
E. Christine Tewis |
Wyathk, Tarrant § Cogbs, IEP
.. 250 Wast Main Skreet, Suite 1600
lexingten, KY 40507

an answer to the complaint which is served o you with thiis summons, within_twenty {20) dnys after service
of this sutamons ux you, exchisive of the day of service. If you fail to do so, Jjudgment by defisult will be taken against you
for the relief demanded in the complaint. Any answer that you serve on the partios to this action must be filed with the
Clexk of this Court within a reasonabls petiod of time after service. :

LESLIE 8, WHITMER | _ FEB24 20
e ' DATE
Famela Burgess

' 7y) DEPUTY CLEEK T4




